ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Spartanburg County
Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JUL 18 2012

S.C. Supreme Court

RICHARD BERNARD MOORE,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

Appellate Case No. 2011-198472

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

SUSAN BARBER HACKETT
Appellate Defender

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

1.

Whether trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance, in derogation of the Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution by failing to perform a reasonable investigation concerning Petitioner's background and family life and present evidence of the investigation during the sentencing proceeding?

2.

Whether trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance, in derogation of the Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution by failing to call James Aiken to testify regarding Petitioner's adaptability to life in prison?

3.

Whether trial counsel was ineffective, in derogation of the Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, by failing to adequately prepare and rebut evidence Petitioner shot the decedent with premeditation while behind the store counter since how the decedent came to be shot was critical to the extent of Petitioner's culpability?

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Petitioner grew up in the small town of Mt. Clemens, Michigan surrounded by his family. App. 1802, ll. 17-18; App. 1804, ll. 9-11; App. 1820, ll. 9-15; App. 1821, ll. 11-13; App. 1834, l. 25 – 1835, l. 11; App. 1836, ll. 5-14; App. 1845, l. 21 – 1846, l. 3; App. 1847, ll. 21-25; App. 1848, ll. 9-12; App. 1850, l. 20 – 1851, l. 17; App. 1858, ll. 14-21; App. 1866, ll. 19-24; App. 1873, ll. 1-9; App. 1880, l. 24 – 1881, l. 10; App. 1897, ll. 1-14; App. 1912, ll. 6-12. Petitioner along with his parents and five brothers and two sisters lived next door to Petitioner's maternal grandmother and grandfather. App. 1835, ll. 2-5; App. 1836, ll. 11-12; App. 1858, ll. 14-17; App. 1918, ll. 12-14. Petitioner lived in Michigan until 1991 when he moved to Spartanburg, South Carolina with his girlfriend, Lynda Byrd. App. 1688, l. 15 – 1689, l. 7; App. 2256, ll. 12-17. Lynda had a child from a previous relationship, and she and Petitioner had two children together. App. 1689, l. 19 – 1690, l. 2; App. 1692, l. 23 – 1693, l. 3. Petitioner's entire family remained in Michigan. App. 2256, l. 25 – 2257, l. 7.

On September 16, 1999, Petitioner entered Nikki's, a convenience store in Spartanburg County. App. 1196, l. 25 – 1197, l. 3; App. 1204, l. 15 – 1205, l. 1; App. 2264, ll. 3-23. The third shift clerk was James Mahoney. App. 1196, l. 25 – 1197, l. 18. Petitioner gathered several items for purchase and approached the register. App. 2265, ll. 22-25. Shortly thereafter, Mahoney pulled a gun on Petitioner. App. 2269, ll. 5-12; App. 1347, l. 12 – 1348, l. 20 (testimony of the store owner that he owned two handguns that were kept at the store and Mahoney carried a third gun on his person); App. 1212, ll. 7-12 (testimony of Terry Hadden that Mahoney carried a gun in his waistband). A struggle ensued and Petitioner got the gun from Mahoney. App. 2269, ll. 14-16. However, Mahoney pulled another gun on Petitioner and the two began shooting at each other. App. 1209, ll. 4-5; App. 2270, ll. 16-24. Both Petitioner and Mahoney were shot. App. 1377, ll. 19

– 25; App. 1382, ll. 3-13; App. 2270, ll. 23-24. Mahoney died as a result of the gunshot wound, and Petitioner left the store. App. 2274, ll. 13-15. However, Petitioner was captured by police within hours. App. 1238, l. 2 – 1239, l. 10; App. 1241, ll. 14-17.

In October of 2001, Petitioner was tried before an all white jury. The Honorable Gary E. Clary was the trial judge. Petitioner was represented by Michael Morin, Keith Kelly, and Jennifer Johnson. Trey Gowdy, III., Barry Barnette, and James Willingham, II, prosecuted the case. App. 1. The jury returned its verdict finding Petitioner guilty of the murder of Mahoney. App. 1601, ll. 5-14. After a short sentencing proceeding, the jury sentenced Petitioner to death. App. 1758, ll. 8-21.

Petitioner's conviction and death sentence were affirmed in State v. Moore, 357 S.C. 458, 593 S.E.2d 608 (2004).

Petitioner's application for post-conviction relief and amended application for post-conviction relief contained numerous grounds for relief. App. 1766-1797. Petitioner was represented on post-conviction relief by Jim Morton and Melissa Armstrong. William Edgar Salter, III., and Anthony Mabry represented the State. The grounds relevant for this petition were raised in the court below as follows:

Trial counsel was ineffective in violation of the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and federal laws, South Carolina Constitution and South Carolina state law due to their failure to perform a reasonable investigation into [Petitioner]'s background and family life, resulting in a sentencing proceeding that was fundamentally unfair and assured a death verdict for [Petitioner] would be returned by the jury. Trial counsel failed to conduct any investigation in the state of Michigan, where [Petitioner] was born and raised. Had counsel conducted a reasonable investigation into Applicant's background, they would have learned that [Petitioner] comes from a large family, had numerous relatives who could have testified to his good character and struggle with addiction, and these relatives and/or friends would have been willing to testify on [Petitioner]'s behalf during his sentencing proceeding at trial. Failure to conduct a reasonable investigation into potential avenues of mitigation is conduct failing below what is required of trial counsel in a capital case. Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510 (2003); Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 688 (1984)(“counsel has a duty to make reasonable investigations or to make a reasonable decision that makes particular

investigations unnecessary.” Id., 466 U.S. at 691); Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104 (1982).

App. 1789.

[Petitioner] was denied due process of law and also denied the right to effective assistance of counsel in violation of the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution, the South Carolina Constitution and South Carolina law because trial counsel failed to present adaptability evidence from James Aiken, a nationally recognized expert in the field of penal institution safety and management. Mr. Aiken was prepared and available to testify on behalf of [Petitioner], but was never called as a witness. Counsel’s unreasonable decision to not call Mr. Aiken opened the door for the state’s damning closing argument that [Petitioner] had shown “escalating violence,” thereby injecting the fear of [Petitioner]’s future dangerousness into the minds of the jurors, who were never told that [Petitioner] would be safely housed for the duration of his life. The prejudice to [Petitioner] stemming from counsel’s inexplicable (and seemingly eleventh hour) decision to discard the only defense expert is manifest. Strickland v. Washington, supra.

App. 1792-1793.

[Petitioner] was denied the right to effective assistance of counsel at both the trial and sentencing phases in violation of the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution, federal law, South Carolina State Constitution, and South Carolina law in that trial counsel failed to properly and adequately investigate and prepare to confront and rebut the State’s alleged physical evidence, and further trial counsel failed to present its own expert or evidence to rebut or explain such physical evidence and/or object that ballistics and firearms and serology testimony was inadmissible in that it failed to meet the mandates of Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 509 U.S. 579 (1993) and State v. Jones, 273 S.C. 723 (1979). Counsels unreasonable omissions denied [Petitioner] an opportunity to show to the jury he acted in self defense or

This incident involved a late night shoot out in a convenience store. Multiple gun shots involving two guns were fired. The defendant was wounded in the arm and chest and the victim was mortally wounded. There is undisputed evidence that the victim owned and/or possessed both guns involved and no evidence [Petitioner] possessed any gun until he wrestled one of the guns from the victim. There was a great deal of evidence and testimony presented by the Solicitor regarding multiple guns, ballistics, shell casings, bullet jackets, bullet fragments, fingerprints, trace evidence, [gunshot] residue, blood, blood spatter, DNA, and pathology. Much of this testimony is subject to attack on the basis of its questionable admissibility. Even if admissible, the evidence was easily contradicted and/or explained in a manner consistent with “circumstances other than the guilt of the accused.” Trial counsel never retained its own expert to assist with the forensic issues involved with the

State's physical evidence. Trial counsel never called as witnesses its own experts for the jury to hear an opposing view and opinion as to the physical evidence. Thus, trial counsel did not adequately investigate or prepare to deny, rebut, or explain the State's physical evidence. Gardner v. Florida, 430 U.S. 122, 50 L.Ed.2d 339, 97 S.Ct. 399 (1976). Had counsel hired appropriate forensic experts, including a forensic pathologist, who could have testified as to the single bullet having killed James Mahoney, rather than two as opined by the state, and a crime scene analyst, who could have provided testimony concerning the likely origin of bullets, bullet fragments, shell casings, and general crime scene analysis, there is a reasonable probability that the guilt and/or penalty phase would have had a different outcome. Strickland v. Washington, *supra*.

App. 1789-1790.

Six depositions were taken in Mt. Clemens, Michigan prior to the evidentiary hearing. App. 1798-1923. An evidentiary hearing was convened on January 31, 2011 before the Honorable Roger L. Couch. App. 1962.

An order of dismissal was filed on August 1, 2011. App. 2879-2979. This petition for a writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

Trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance, in derogation of the Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution by failing to perform a reasonable investigation concerning Petitioner's background and family life and present evidence of the investigation during the sentencing proceeding.

Relevant Facts

Mitigation Evidence Presented at Trial

Trial counsel presented only two witnesses during the penalty phase of the trial: Petitioner's girlfriend, Lynda Byrd, and Petitioner's "stepson," James Byrd. Trial counsel called no other members of Petitioner's family to testify and presented no evidence of Petitioner's life history. Rather the focus of the mitigation case appeared to be Petitioner's ability to be a "father" while in prison.

Lynda Byrd

Lynda Byrd testified that she had known Petitioner since 1989 and the two were "a couple." App. 1688, ll. 13-17; App. 1689, ll. 2-4. Lynda had a child named James whose father was someone other than Petitioner. App. 1689, l. 19 – 1690, l. 4. However, James considered Petitioner to be his father. App. 1690, l. 5-6. In addition, Lynda and Petitioner had two children together. App. 1692, ll. 23-25. Lynda recalled that Petitioner had coached one of James' basketball teams. App. 1691, ll. 4-6. She testified Petitioner and James enjoyed fishing and watching sports together. App. 1691, ll. 11-20.

Lynda testified that since Petitioner's pretrial detention, she visited him in the detention center once or twice a week. App. 1692, ll. 4-12. She also testified that she provided some

money for Petitioner to allow him to call home and buy necessities. App. 1692, ll. 13-19. Petitioner called home to speak to his children every day. App. 1692, ll. 20-22. She described the children as running to the phone whenever it rang, hoping it was Petitioner on the other end. App. 1698, ll. 22-24.

Petitioner also received copies of the children's report cards. App. 1693, ll. 10-14. Petitioner was very supportive of the children's progress in school and other achievements. App. 1694, ll. 2-21. The children and Petitioner also stayed in touch through written correspondence and photographs sent through the mail. App. 1697, ll. 15-23. Lynda noted that Petitioner and one of their children were teaching each other Spanish through the mail. App. 1698, ll. 1-2. Lynda explained the children looked forward to talking to Petitioner and he was a positive influence over them, even while incarcerated. App. 1697, ll. 4-14.

Lynda explained that Petitioner "was always working" and had contributed financially to the family. App. 1694, l. 22 – 1695, l. 7. She was aware that Petitioner had a drug problem at one time, but she was adamant that he did not expose the children to drugs and he continued to contribute to the family. App. 1696, ll. 4-22.

Ultimately, Lynda asked the jury to spare Petitioner's life because his three children needed him and adored him. She emphasized that despite his incarceration he provided a strong support base for the family and guided them. App. 1698, ll. 15-18.

James Byrd

James was sixteen-years old at the time of Petitioner's trial. App. 1699, l. 25 – 1700, l. 1. He testified that he had no relationship with his biological father and considered Petitioner to be his father. App. 1700, ll. 5-9. James recalled Petitioner coaching one of his sports teams. App. 1700, ll. 19-23. In addition, Petitioner attended James' practices and games whenever possible.

App. 1701, ll. 2-8. During Petitioner's pretrial detention, Petitioner wrote letters to James encouraging him with his academics and athletics. App. 1701, ll. 12-16. James and Petitioner spoke on the phone every day during this time as well. App. 1701, ll. 19-20. James testified Petitioner encouraged the younger children to do well in school also. App. 1703, ll. 2-4. The family visited Petitioner every week. App. 1703, ll. 8-16.

James asked the jury to spare Petitioner's life because he was the only Dad James ever had and he and his siblings needed Petitioner.

Mitigation Evidence Presented at PCR hearing

During PCR proceedings, Petitioner presented deposition testimony from Dorothy Hooper, Cecil J. Hooper, Harold Harrington, Arma Hadley, James A. Moore, and Maurice Moore. Petitioner and trial counsel testified during the PCR proceedings. In addition, James Aiken testified about Petitioner's adaptability to prison. Pete Skidmore testified concerning his role as fact investigator, and Dr. Sandra Conradi testified regarding the meaning of the forensic evidence which showed the decedent was actually shot only once. Paul Dorman unequivocally testified at the PCR hearing that the bullet hole in Petitioner's bag containing his beer and cigarettes indicated the shot came from behind the counter where the clerk was towards the counter where Petitioner was located.

Dorothy Hooper

Dorothy Hooper, a lifelong resident of Michigan, testified that she is Petitioner's aunt. App. 1802, ll. 13-20; App. 1808, ll. 7-9. She became aware of Petitioner being charged with murder five years prior to her deposition testimony on January 20, 2011. App. 1803, ll. 16-21. She never spoke to any lawyers or investigators on Petitioner's behalf prior to the PCR investigation. App. 1803, ll. 22-24; App. 1807, l. 17 – 1808, l. 1; App. 1813, ll. 4-8. Dorothy

indicated she would have spoken to investigators and would have testified at Petitioner's trial. App. 1803, l. 25 – 1804, l. 6. At the time of Petitioner's trial, Petitioner's mother was deceased, and no member of the defense team, or Petitioner's father or other family members asked Dorothy to testify. App. 1808, ll. 11-21; App. 1813, ll. 21-22.

Dorothy explained Petitioner was at her home on a weekly basis, including overnight visits, when he was a child. App. 1804, ll. 9-12; App. 1804, l. 21 – 1805, l. 11. She described Petitioner as a "good person" who never gave her any trouble. App. 1804, l. 9-14; App. 1805, ll. 12-19. According to Dorothy, Petitioner was respectful and did not act aggressively or violently. App. 1805, ll. 22-24.

Had Dorothy addressed the jurors in Petitioner's capital trial, she would have asked them to spare his life and for mercy. App. 1805, l. 25 – 1806, l. 6. Dorothy candidly admitted she was not aware of Petitioner's prior interactions with law enforcement. App. 1809, l. 21 – 1811, l. 23. However, knowing of Petitioner's legal troubles would not have affected her willingness to testify on his behalf. App. 1813, ll. 9-15.

Cecil J. Hooper

Cecil J. Hooper, Dorothy's husband, had known Petitioner all of Petitioner's life. App. 1819, l. 22 - 1820, l. 15. Cecil learned Petitioner had been charged with murder from Dorothy. App. 1820, l. 16-20.

He was never contacted by anyone on Richard's behalf prior to the PCR investigation. App. 1820, l. 21 – 1821, l. 2; App. 1822, ll. 7-18. Had Cecil been contacted, he would have been willing to speak to the person and testify on Richard's behalf. App. 1821, ll. 3-9. Cecil would have told the jury that based upon his regular interactions with Petitioner, he considered Petitioner "a nice kid growing up," who was respectful to adults, and had no behavior problems.

App. 1821, ll. 10-21. Cecil would have asked the jury for mercy. App. 1821, l. 25 – 1822, l. 1. Like Dorothy, Cecil admitted he was not aware of Petitioner’s prior criminal record. App. 1822, l. 19 – 1824, l. 11. Cecil explained that he would have testified on Petitioner’s behalf even knowing about Petitioner’s troubles with the law. App. 1825, l. 24 – 1826, l. 1.

Harold Harrington

Harold, Petitioner’s uncle and a lifelong resident of Michigan, testified that he became aware of Petitioner’s murder charges shortly after Petitioner’s mother’s death. App. 1832, ll. 5-6; App. 1832, ll. 16-20; App. 1833, ll. 2-7. During Petitioner’s teenage years and into his twenties, Harold saw him several times a week. App. 1835, ll. 2-11. Harold never observed Petitioner acting out aggressively. App. 1836, ll. 15-18.

He was never contacted by anyone on Petitioner’s behalf prior to the PCR investigation. App. 1833, ll. 8-12. Had he been contacted, he would have testified that Petitioner was a good person and would have asked the jury to be lenient and not recommend the death penalty. App. 1834, ll. 6-13. Harold was not aware of Petitioner’s criminal record. App. 1835, l. 12 – 22; App. 1836 l. 25 – 1837, l. 2; App. 1837, ll. 12-18; App. 1838, l. 21 – 1839, l. 5. However, Petitioner’s criminal record would not have changed Harold’s willingness to testify on Petitioner’s behalf. App. 1838, ll. 5-15.

Arma Hadley

Arma Hadley, Petitioner’s aunt, testified that she was one of nine children and all lived in the same area in Michigan. App. 1845, l. 25 – 1846, l. 3; App. 1850, l. 20 – 1851, l. 2. She indicated that her family was very close with Petitioner’s father’s family. App. 1851, ll. 7-17. Arma was never contacted by anyone regarding Petitioner until the PCR investigation. App.

1846, ll. 12-21; App. 1859, ll. 11-21. Arma would have been willing to speak to investigators and testify on Petitioner's behalf. App. 1846, l. 22 – 1847, l. 5.

Arma recalled Petitioner as a sweet and friendly person. App. 1847, ll. 21-25. Petitioner was respectful to her, worked hard, and played on the basketball team in high school. App. 1848, ll. 4-8. Petitioner was not a discipline problem and did not act aggressively. App. 1848, ll. 14-20. She admitted that after Petitioner graduated from high school and moved away, she did not see him as often. App. 1855, ll. 8-22.

Furthermore, Arma would have told the jury that Petitioner was a calm person, who did not show signs of aggression. App. 1848, l. 22 – 1849, l. 9. She would have asked the jury to spare his life. App. 1849, ll. 16-23. Arma was aware of Petitioner having trouble with the law on one occasion. App. 1851, ll. 21-23. She was not aware of any other arrests or convictions. App. 1852, l. 22 – 1855, l. 5; App. 1855, l. 25 – 1856, l. 12. Arma did not learn of Petitioner's murder conviction and death sentence until several years after the fact. App. 1856, ll. 18-25.

James A. Moore

James Moore is Petitioner's younger brother. App. 1866, ll. 6-18. James did not learn of Petitioner being charged with murder until after Petitioner was convicted. App. 1867, l. 23 – 1868, l. 2. No one ever contacted James about Petitioner. App. 1869, ll. 2-9; App. 1880, ll. 17-23; App. 1881, l. 20 – 1882, l. 11; App. 1886, ll. 8-10. James would have been willing to speak to Petitioner's defense team and would have testified on Petitioner's behalf. App. 1869, ll. 10-17. Had James testified, he would have informed the jury that Petitioner was nice, was a good man, and loved by many. App. 1869, ll. 22 – 24; App. 1870, ll. 1-3. James recalled Petitioner played sports and was popular in school. App. 1869, l. 4 – 1871, l. 2. He would have asked the jury to have mercy on Petitioner. App. 1869, ll. 24-25.

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