THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal From Spartanburg County
The Honorable Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate case No. 2011-198472

S.C. Supreme Court

NOV 16 2012

RECEIVED

RECEIVED

NOV 16 2012

RICHARD BERNARD MOORE, ,

S.C. Supreme Court

Petitioner,

vs.

THE STATE,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Sr. Assistant Deputy Attorney General

WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III
Senior Assistant Attorney General

P. O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT.

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

¹⁹ Moore contends that the "question presented in the instant case is whether trial counsel's decision not to investigate [Moore's] family history in Michigan was reasonable." **Petition for Writ of Certiorari**, p. 27. As demonstrated, however, counsel did not decide to not to investigate Moore's family history. Rather, they made a decision not to *further* investigate after both counsel and their mitigation specialist had been rebuffed in their reasonable efforts to make contact with his family and Moore had refused to assist them by providing any information that would justify further investigation. *Cf. Bobby v. Van Hook*, 130 S.Ct. 13, 19 (2009) (Court, in pre-AEDPA case, characterizing the issue not as counsel's failure to investigate while potential mitigating evidence stared them in the face, but as a professionally reasonable judgment not to seek more by contacting remote family members.

Further, it was objectively reasonable for counsel to use surrogates, such as Ms. Glass, to attempt to locate and interview potential witnesses, rather than doing so personally. *E.g.*, *Walls v. Bowersox*, 151 F.3d 827, 834, n. 4 (8th Cir. 1998) (interviews conducted by second chair and social worker); *Rhode v. Hall*, 582 F.3d 1273, 1283-84 (11th Cir. 2009) (counsel utilized investigators, reviewed their investigative product, and thereby satisfied investigative responsibilities). Their decision was particularly reasonable once counsel’s initial efforts to speak with family members had been rebuffed.²⁰

Moreover, counsel made a reasonable presentation of mitigating evidence through Ms. Byrd and her son, Moore’s stepson, since these were the only adult family members willing to cooperate with counsel. In support of his Petition, Moore quotes *Wiggins* for the proposition that “investigations into mitigating evidence ‘should comprise efforts to discover all reasonably available mitigating evidence and evidence to rebut any aggravating evidence that may be introduced by the prosecutor.’ [539 U.S.] at 524 (citing *ABA Guidelines for the Appointment and Performance of Counsel in Death Penalty Cases* 11.4.1© (1989).” **Petition for writ of Certiorari, p. 22** (emphasis deleted). However, his argument is not properly before this Court on certiorari because it was not presented to the PCR judge.²¹ *See Evans v. State*, 363 S.C. 495, 503-04, 611 S.E.2d 510, 515 (2005) (an issue must have been raised to and ruled upon by the PCR judge to be preserved for appellate review); *Plyler v. State*, 309 S.C. 408, 424 S.E.2d 477 (1992) (issue or argument which is neither

²⁰ Although Moore does not challenge counsel’s performance for failing to present the testimony of co-workers or an expert opinion on his mental health, the record demonstrates that counsel made a reasonable investigation into these matters, as well.

²¹ In particular, Respondent notes that Moore did not present this argument either in his Amended Application (**App. pp. 1788-97**) or his proposed Order, which he did not include in the Appendix.

raised at PCR hearing nor ruled upon by the PCR court is procedurally barred from appellate review); *Hyman v. State*, 278 S.C. 501, 502, 299 S.E.2d 330, 331 (1983) (petitioner failed to preserve for review on appeal claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failure to object that sentences constituted cruel and unusual punishment where point was not raised in PCR application or at hearing); *Gary v. State*, 347 S.C. 627, 629, 557 S.E.2d 662, 663 (2001) (“This issue was not raised below and is not properly before us”). *See also Marlar v. State*, 375 S.C. 407, 410, 653 S.E.2d 266, 267 (2007) (“Because respondent did not make a Rule 59(e) motion asking the PCR judge to make specific findings of fact and conclusions of law on his allegations, the issues were not preserved for appellate review, and the Court of Appeals erred in addressing the merits of the issues and remanding the matter to the PCR judge”); *Simpson v. Moore*, 367 S.C. 587, 600 n.3, 627 S.E.2d 701, 708 n.3 (2006) (holding that question of whether the prosecution violated *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), by failing to disclose “a memo to the file written by one of the solicitors” was not properly before state supreme court on certiorari where “the PCR court did not consider whether the State's failure to disclose this memo constituted a *Brady* violation nor did PCR counsel raise the issue in the Rule 59(e), SCRCF, motion to alter or amend”) (citation omitted).

Moreover, his reliance upon the ABA Guidelines must be rejected for two reasons. First, the United States Supreme Court re-emphasized in *Bobby v. Van Hook*, 130 S.Ct. 13 (2009), that these are merely guidelines, at best, and that trial counsel need not comply with them to render objectively reasonable representation *See Bobby v. Van Hook*, 130 S.Ct. 13, 17 (2009) (the court of appeals erroneously treated the ABA's 2003 Guidelines “as inexorable commands with which all capital defense counsel “must fully comply” because these “are ‘only guides’ to what reasonableness means, not its definition;” and holding that “ “[w]hile States are free to impose whatever specific

rules they see fit to ensure that criminal defendants are well represented, we have held that the Federal Constitution imposes one general requirement: that counsel make objectively reasonable choices”) (citations omitted).²²

Second, counsel’s investigation satisfied § 11.4.1© of the ABA Guidelines, upon which Moore relies. Counsel made “efforts to discover all reasonably available mitigating evidence.” The problem with his argument is that the testimony of the family members living in Michigan was not “reasonably available.” To the contrary, it was unavailable in spite of very reasonable efforts by counsel to interview these witnesses and present their testimony.

Similarly, *Wiggins* is distinguishable. In *Wiggins*, the only significant mitigating factor that the sentencing jury heard was that Wiggins did not have any no prior convictions. Although defense counsel had indications that Wiggins’ childhood had been miserable, counsel conducted only a minimal investigation and failed to discover that he had experienced severe, long-term physical and sexual abuse and torment throughout his childhood, including repeated rape while in foster care. *Id.* at 535. The Court held that such compelling mitigating evidence might well have produced a

²² Justice Alito wrote a separate concurring opinion in *Bobby*, to more forcefully emphasize his “understanding that the [majority] opinion in no way suggests that the American Bar Association’s Guidelines for the Appointment and Performance of Defense Counsel in Death Penalty Cases (rev. ed. 2003) (2003 Guidelines or ABA Guidelines) have special relevance in determining whether an attorney’s performance meets the standard required by the Sixth Amendment.” *Bobby*, 130 S.Ct. at 20 (Alito, J., concurring). He explained that “[t]he ABA is a venerable organization with a history of service to the bar, but it is, after all, a private group with limited membership. The views of the association’s members, not to mention the views of the members of the advisory committee that formulated the 2003 Guidelines, do not necessarily reflect the views of the American bar as a whole. It is the responsibility of the courts to determine the nature of the work that a defense attorney must do in a capital case in order to meet the obligations imposed by the Constitution, and I see no reason why the ABA Guidelines should be given a privileged position in making that determination.” *Id.* (emphasis added). See also *Montejo v. Louisiana*, 129 S.Ct. 2079, 2087 (2009) (the Constitution does not codify ABA Model Rules); *Jones v. Barnes*, 463 U.S. 745, 753 n.6 (1983) (ABA standards do not necessarily establish what the Constitution commands in a given context); see also *Yarborough v. Johnson*, 520 F.3d 329, 338-39 (4th Cir. 2008) (finding that the state court properly distinguished *Wiggins* and observing that ABA standards do not define minimum Constitutional standards).

different outcome and that counsel's scant efforts were prejudicially deficient. *Id.* at 536.

Here, on the other hand, counsel did not unreasonably limit their investigation. Instead, their reasonable investigative efforts were thwarted by a lack of cooperation from both Moore and his family. Moore's reliance upon *Rompilla v. Beard*, 545 U.S. 374 (2005),²³ *Council v. State*, 380 S.C. 159, 172, 670 S.E.2d 356, 363 (2008), and *Von Dolen v. State*, 360 S.C. 598, 608, 602 S.E.2d 738, 743 (2004), is misplaced for this same reason.

Likewise, the record supports the PCR judge's conclusion that Moore did not prove any prejudice from counsel's failure to interview and present the family members who were deposed for the PCR hearing. To establish prejudice, he had the burden to prove that "there is a reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the sentencer-including an appellate court, to the extent it independently reweighs the evidence-would have concluded that the balance of aggravating and mitigating circumstances did not warrant death." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 695. In other words, "[t]o

²³ In *Rompilla*, the Supreme Court reaffirmed that a trial counsel's performance cannot be found adequate if it is supported by an unreasonably limited investigation. 545 U.S. ---, 125 S.Ct. 2456 (2005). *Rompilla*'s mitigation evidence consisted of testimony from five of his family members who pleaded with the jury for mercy, and asserted that *Rompilla* was an innocent and good man. *Id.* at 378. Nonetheless, the jury found that the aggravating factors outweighed the mitigation evidence and sentenced *Rompilla* to death. *Rompilla* later presented a habeas claim for ineffective assistance, based upon the inadequacy of counsel's investigation for mitigating evidence.

The Supreme Court reversed the denial of habeas relief. The Court found that trial counsel's investigation was unreasonable because counsel failed to examine *Rompilla*'s prior conviction file even though the prosecution had acknowledged that it was going to use *Rompilla*'s prior convictions as an aggravating factor to push for the death penalty. *Id.* at 383-85. The *Rompilla* Court rejected the argument that trial counsel sufficiently investigated *Rompilla*'s prior convictions by reviewing his rap sheet. *Id.* at 385 n. 3.

The Court held that if trial counsel had examined *Rompilla*'s prior conviction file, counsel would have found information that would have made them skeptical of the impression of *Rompilla*'s background they had gotten from the family members thus far. Therefore, counsel would have undoubtedly investigated further and uncovered the voluminous mitigating evidence not introduced at trial. *Id.* at 390-93. The Court also rejected the contention that the efforts that counsel did take--namely, extensively interviewing *Rompilla* and his family, and consulting three mental health experts--were enough to release counsel from investigating further. *Id.* at 387-90.

assess [the] probability [of a different outcome under *Strickland*], [the Court must] consider the totality of the available mitigation evidence-both that adduced at trial, and the evidence adduced in the habeas proceeding-and reweig[h] it against the evidence in aggravation.” *Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S.Ct. 447, 449 (2009) (*per curiam*).

Again, the record supports the finding that these witnesses lacked credibility. Moore’s brother Maurice was not credible for the reasons noted by the PCR judge (**App. pp. 2967-69**) and James Moore’s testimony that he would have testified at trial if he had known about the case but he was not told because he was the baby in the family was undermined by his veery reluctant admission that he was incarcerated on two drug possession charges at the time Moore was tried. Additionally,

most of the Michigan family members testified that they had little contact with Moore after he reached the age of 18 or after he moved to South Carolina. These witnesses would have been thoroughly impeached with their lack of knowledge of Moore. Even though they lived in the same small community in Michigan and lived in close proximity to him, they testified that they were unaware of his convictions in Michigan for possession of a weapon, and attempted burglary. Additionally, they had no knowledge and were unaware of his criminal convictions for common law robbery, habitual traffic offender, and ABHAN.”

App. pp. 2969-70.²⁴

Likewise, Ms. Hadley, Moore’s maternal aunt, contradicted Moore’s PCR testimony that he never lived in Detroit, by testifying that she lost contact with him after he moved to Detroit when

²⁴ Moore’s only argument in support of his claim that he was prejudiced by counsel’s alleged error is that the family members presented in PCR would have asked jurors to spare Moore’s life. However, the PCR judge found that these witness’ supposed willingness to testify at trial was not credible and, again, his finding is supported by evidence in the record. Further, the testimony of his extended family members would have been fodder for cross-examination that they did not know anything about Moore as a late teen or as an adult, while his brothers’ testimony is likewise not credible or beneficial to Moore, for the reasons shown. Moreover, any plea of mercy by these witnesses would have been cumulative to the testimony of Linda and James Byrd that counsel offered in mitigation of punishment. **App. pp. 1687-1703.**

he was roughly eighteen. *Compare App. p. 1855 with App. p. 2293.*²⁵ Also, the PCR judge correctly found that, although the proffered family witnesses had favorable things to say about Moore's behavior when young, none offered any "evidence that he suffered from any mental illness, mental retardation, personality disorder, physical or sexual abuse, or deprivation or poverty. Nor was there any testimony from any of these family members that Moore witnessed any physical or sexual abuse during his formative years. In fact, they each testified that Moore came from a good family, had good parents, had positive role models, and was made to attend church growing up and taught the difference between right and wrong." **App. p. 2970.**

As a result, this Court must deny certiorari. *See Cherry, supra.*

II. This Court must deny certiorari because there is evidence of probative value to support the PCR judge's findings that trial counsel made an objectively reasonable decision under *Strickland v. Washington* not to present opinion evidence of Moore's adaptability to prison life through James E. Aiken, who was present for the sentencing, "since the presentation of Aiken's testimony would have resulted in the State being allowed to present damaging testimony in reply;" and that Moore was not prejudiced by counsel's failure to present Aiken's opinion on his adaptability.

Next, Moore claims that counsel were ineffective because they failed to present evidence of Moore's adaptability to prison life through James E. Aiken, who was present for the sentencing phase of the trial but was not called as a witness. Again, Respondent submits that this Court must deny certiorari because there is evidence of probative value to support the PCR judge's finding that counsel made an objectively reasonable strategic decision not to present Aiken's testimony, once counsel became aware that the State would present damaging rebuttal evidence of Moore's misconduct while incarcerated in Michigan. **App. pp. 2971-73.** Also, there is evidence to support

²⁵ James also thought that his brother had lived in Detroit (**App. p. 1871**) and Maurice was uncertain. **App. p. 1913.**

the PCR judge's finding that Moore failed to prove that he was prejudiced by counsel's performance. **App. pp. 2973-76.**²⁶

A. Evidence presented at PCR hearing.

Mr. Aiken, an expert in correctional institution management, was presented by Moore at the PCR hearing. Mr. Aiken testified that he is President of James E. Aiken & Associates, and he gave a summary of his work experience, both of working for various departments of corrections and as a prison consultant. He explained prison classification systems, his own assessment of Moore's classification and his opinion that Moore would be of low risk of presenting a future danger in the prison system. Based on Mr. Aiken's review of Moore's records while incarcerated, Aiken opined that Moore can be controlled and managed in a prison environment for the remainder of his life without causing an undue risk of harm to staff, inmates or the general community. **App. pp. 2098-2107; 2109-13; 2126.**

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